
DEVELOPMENT REVIEW BOARD 

UNAPPROVED MINUTES 

Meeting of TUESDAY, AUGUST 7, 2007 

 

1.  The meeting was called to order at 7:00 p.m. 

 

Members present: Robert J. Wernecke, Chairman; John Hurley, Vice-Chair; Muriel Morse; and Robert G. 

Manley.  Absent:  Henry A. LaGue, Jr.      

 

Staff present: Peter E.  Noyes, Interim Zoning Administrator and Carla Preston, Recording Secretary. 

 

Others present:  Brian Morse, Dave Gardner, Carl Fuller, Steve Guild, Damartin Quadros, Susan Quadros-

Covey, Steve Rosen, Cathy Dubois, Tina Wakefield, Alan Aiken, Don Mandelkorn, Rebecca Bowen, Paul 

Irons, Tony Folland, Steve Woodward, Sean Ryan, and Jim Bond.   

 

The Board explained its Policy and definition of party status and interested persons to attendees.  No one 

requested party status.  

 

2.  New Business 

 

A. 07-065 - BM Properties, LLC submitted an application for Site Plan Review to construct a 16-foot by 46-foot 

vehicle storage building.  The property is located at 47 Dog River Road, Berlin, Vermont, in the Commercial 

(CG) District, Tax Map R7, Lot 009G.   Brian Morse with BM Properties, LLC was sworn in to give testimony 

on this matter.  Steve Rosen, Alan Aiken, Cathy Dubois, Tina Wakefiled, Don Mandelkorn, Rebecca Bowen, 

Paul Irons, Tony Folland, Steve Woodward, and Sean Ryan with BAART Behavioral Health Services and/or 

the Berlin MAT program were also sworn in to give testimony on this matter.  

 

The following documents were submitted and admitted as exhibits. Exhibit #1:  Application For Zoning 

Permit, Site Plan, and description of the project received on or about July 14, 2007; Exhibit #2:  Site Plan, 

prepared by Chase & Chase Surveyors & Septic Designers Inc., dated December 29, 2003, including the 

applicant’s hand drawn proposed location for building and driveway as of July 14, 2007; Exhibit #3: Proposed 

building dimensions and design; Exhibit #4:  The Applicant’s written narrative addressing Site Plan Review 

Criteria; Exhibit #5:  July 31, 2007 letter from the Berlin Volunteer Fire Department stating that the proposed 

building for storage of medical treatment vehicle would have minimal impact on that department; and Exhibit 

#6:  Zoning Administrator’s Report for DRB Meeting August 7, 2007. 

      

Mr. Morse said the proposed new construction of a 16-foot by 46-foot storage building is for the purpose of 

storing the mobile methodone vehicle and a small office area.  He said the vehicle would be parked 

approximately 22 of the 24 hours in a day.   

 

Zoning Administrator, Peter Noyes, indicated that the proposed project is a permitted use (automobile sales &  

service and parking facilities) in this district.  Warehouse is a conditional use.  He said an impact letter has 

been received from the Berlin Volunteer Fire Department stating minimal impact.  He has received verbal 

approval from the Berlin Police Department, which will be followed up in writing soon.   He said he has not 

received a response from the Berlin Highway Department, but noted that the applicants are not proposing any 

changes to access.    

 

Mr. Morse said the vehicle would exit out onto Dog River Road and they would use the existing entrance.  

There would be no new curb cuts.  He said parking is around the building and that future parking is available 

to the side.  He said the parking area mentioned during the previous application was completed.  He said the 

building, graveled driveway, turnaround area and parking area are new.  He said the driveway would likely be 

crushed slate. He said the siding for the building would be Texture 111 with a metal roof.   



DEVELOPMENT REVIEW BOARD 

MINUTES – AUGUST 7, 2007   Page 2 

 

Mr. Morse said the building would have two windows on the backside of the building for the benefit of the 

employees.  No windows are being proposed on the building visible to the road.  He said they have not yet 

decided the type of heating system to be installed. 

 

Alan Aiken, Clinical Director of the program in Newport, introduced the others in attendance from Newport or 

Saint Johnsbury who are working with the medication treatment assessment program.   

 

The applicants indicated that the building would house a small quantity of methodone in a safe, which would 

be secured via an approved security system.  There would be contact switches for the doors and windows.  The 

alarm system would be connected to the Police Department.  It would be inspected and licensed by the Federal 

Food and Drug Administration and/or Drug Enforcement Administration.  They are not proposing any sewer 

or water hookups for this building.  The mobile vehicle includes toilet facilities and has hot and cold running 

water.  Persons working at the site would have access to that bathroom.  The holding tanks for this vehicle 

would be serviced at the Montpelier Wastewater Treatment Plant.   

 

The Board asked the applicants to address the applicable criteria.   

 

a. Safety of vehicular and pedestrian circulation on site and any adverse impacts on the adjacent street 
network.  Mr. Morse said they anticipate very little traffic, approximately two to three cars per day.  

He noted that there are few deliveries to this site (e.g., Federal Express).  They would utilize the 

existing 25-foot wide access onto Dog River Road, which is used by the other business (Morse Auto 

Sales/Service, LLC).   Pedestrian circulation should be minimal and limited only to persons entering 

or exiting as part of the above mentioned traffic circulation.  

 

b. Adequacy of circulation, parking, and loading facilities.   Mr. Morse said two parking spaces would 

be provided to the interior side of the building for the employees.  The 40-foot mobile unit would 

utilize the existing access through the parking area and enter directly into the building.  He said there 

are no issues with circulation. He said they would use crushed ledge for the surface area.  The 

proposed building would not be open to the general public. The parking spaces provided are near the 

building, which would accommodate persons with disabilities.   Any refuse created by this project 

would be stored within the proposed building and would be disposed of by building occupants on a 

regular basis.  Snow would be stored in the grassed area. 

 

c. Bicycle and Pedestrian Access.   The applicants said there are no sidewalks or walkways along the 

public roads adjacent to the project and none are proposed.  The few staff persons would utilize the 

proposed building.  

 

d. Adequacy of landscaping.  Mr. Morse said a grassed buffer area would be created and maintained 

around the building and between the building and the Dog River Road.  He said some trees were 

added but noted that one or two of them are not doing well.  An above ground propane tank would be 

installed at the backside of the building behind the parking spaces and should not be visible by traffic.  

Mr. Morse said he had no objections to replacing the crabapple trees that were not surviving.   Mr. 

Rosen said that they would be happy to add aesthetic design regarding landscaping and would do so.  

Mr. Morse noted that the office trailers needed to be removed.  

 

e. Hours of Operation.  The applicants stated that the mobile methodone RV type vehicle would be 

scheduled to leave the property at approximately 5:00 AM seven days a week and would return shortly 

after 8:00 AM.  An employee would be working within the building part-time between the hours of 

8:00AM and 5:00PM.  

   

f. Setbacks.  Mr. Morse said all setbacks are met for this proposed building.   



DEVELOPMENT REVIEW BOARD 

MINUTES – AUGUST 7, 2007   Page 3 

 

g. Adequacy of Exterior lighting.   The applicants said they are proposing a standard motion detector 

type light with wattage of 150W or less, which would be installed above the personnel door on the 

interior side of the building (south side).  They believe it would have minimal impact on neighbors and 

would not cause interference to any roadways.  No other exterior lighting is being proposed.  The 

applicants confirmed that any exterior lighting would meet the zoning requirements, shielded and 

shine downward.  

 

h. Stormwater and Drainage.   Mr. Morse said they propose sheet flow of stormwater over the gravel-

surfaced parking areas to the existing and proposed grass lined buffer areas.   He said they would use 

standard foundation drainage around the slab.  He believes that he has less than one acre of impervious 

area.  He said the area is rather flat.  He indicated that the proposed project would have no impact on 

pre-existing stormwater drainage installed with the original developments at this site.  

  
i. Utilization of renewable energy resources.  Mr. Morse said that due to the proposed building’s size 

and location it would have no impact on the ability of abutting properties to utilize renewable energy 

resources.    

 

j. Municipal Services Impact Evaluation.   Mr. Morse said they believe that this project would have 

minimal impact on municipal services.  He said letters have been sent to the Berlin Fire, Police and 

Highway Departments for an impact statement.  He referred to the July 31
st
 letter from the Berlin 

Volunteer Fire Department stating minimal impact and noted that verbal consent had been provided by 

the Berlin Police Department.  He said he has not received a response from the Highway Department 

but noted that they are not proposing any changes to access and an increase in traffic is minimal.      

 

k. Flood Hazard Review. Mr. Morse indicated that based on the information taken from the flood 

insurance map for the project area, that the proposed project is not located within the 100-year flood 

hazard area.  He said he would anchor fuel tanks if required to do so but understood it would not be 

necessary since the property is not located within the flood plain. Mr. Noyes said he verified that this 

property is not located within the flood hazard area.     

 

Based on the documents presented and testimony heard, Mr. Hurley made a motion, seconded by Mr. Manley, 

to close the hearing in the matter of Application 07-065.   The question was called and the motion passed 

unanimously.    

 

B. 07-066 – John and Maria Quadros submitted an application for Conditional use Review to expand an existing 

building to create a restaurant and office space.  The property is located at 571 U.S. Route 2 in the Highway 

Commercial (HC) District, Tax Map U2-24.  Damartin Quadros, Carlton W. Fuller, P.E. with Dufresne & 

Associates, P.C., and Steve Guild, Architect were sworn in to give testimony on this matter. 

 

The following documents were submitted and admitted as exhibits. Exhibit #1:  Application For Zoning 

Permit, Site Plan received on July 16, 2007; Exhibit #2:  Site Plan, C1, prepared by Dufresne & Associates, 

P.C., dated July 16, 2007; Exhibit #3: Architectural Plans, prepared by Steve Guild Design, LLC, dated July 

13, 2007; Exhibit #4: The Applicants’ July 13, 2007 Narrative addressing Conditional Use Criteria; Exhibit 

#5:  July 26, 2007 letter from the Berlin Police Department stating that the proposed renovations would have 

no adverse impact on that department; Exhibit #6:  July 31, 2007 letter from the Berlin Volunteer Fire 

Department, Inc. stating that the proposed renovation and expansion would have minimal impact on its ability 

to provide emergency services; Exhibit #7:  August 2, 2007 E-Mail from Larry Donna, Rail Property 

Management Specialist, with the Vermont Agency of Transportation (VTrans) to the Zoning Administrator 

concerning the need for a lease agreement and conditions with regard to ownership of the property; Exhibit 

#8:  Current photographs of the existing site; and Exhibit #9:  Zoning Administrator’s Report for DRB 

Meeting August 7, 2007. 



DEVELOPMENT REVIEW BOARD 

MINUTES – AUGUST 7, 2007   Page 4 

 

Carl Fuller explained that John and Maria Quadros, owners of the property of the Pride Inc. building and 

Damartin Quadros, owner of the Dunkin Donuts shop located at the Simon’s gas station on Route 302 in 

Berlin, are proposing to relocate that shop to the site that is currently occupied by Pride, Inc.  The project 

would consist of expanding the current building with an approximate 30-foot by 30-foot addition to the Pride, 

Inc. building to accommodate both the existing offices and the proposed relocated shop.  The intent of the 

relocated shop would be to provide limited seating for six patrons and to develop a drive-through lane around 

the building to continue to serve customers.  Mr. Fuller said they are communicating with the Vermont 

Agency of Transportation (VTrans) concerning entering into a lease agreement with the State of Vermont, 

joined by the Washington County Railroad for use of the portion of the railroad Right-of-Way.  Mr. Fuller said 

the encroachment would be necessary to stabilize the bank by the river for the drive-through. He shared the 

August 2
nd

 Email from Lawrence Donna, which pointed out issues that needed to be addressed in order to 

accomplish such an agreement.     

 

Mr. Noyes said that restaurants with a drive-through and office buildings are permitted uses in the Highway 

Commercial District.  He said since setbacks are not met, it is a non-conforming structure, and it is located 

within a flood hazard area.   He said impact letters from the Police and Fire Departments have been received.  

He noted that the applicants are negotiating with VTrans concerning a lease agreement.  He said the lot would 

be congested, noting that the drive-through would be only 10 feet wide at some points.  He also expressed 

concerns about the clearance for vehicles backing out of parking spaces and vehicles in the drive-through lane.  

 

The Board noted that it could not approve any project without the owners of the property involved. The 

property owner(s) must be a co-applicant or have provided written approval in order for the Board to consider 

any proposals.   

 

Mr. Fuller said he believes that they are working parallel lines with the State of Vermont and the Washington 

Couynty Railroad concerning a lease agreement.  They were hoping to obtain a “weather” report from the 

Board concerning the feasibility of the proposed project before moving forward.  He said the issues mentioned 

in the August 2
nd

 E-mail from Lawrence Donna from VTrans are all doable.  Those issues involve the 

construction of a concrete block retaining wall, the discharge of stormwater runoff into the ditch-line location 

alongside the railroad bed, and upgrading the existing culvert under the railroad tracks to 24 inch. 

  

The applicants said they want to keep Pride Inc. in its current office space.  There is about a year remaining on 

their lease.  

 

After a brief discussion concerning signage, the applicants agreed to return to the Board with specifics. They 

will provide dimensions, where proposed signs would be located and total square footage of all signage.  

 

The Board asked the applicants to address the applicable Conditional Use Criteria.   

 

a.   Safety of vehicular and pedestrian circulation on site and any adverse impacts on the adjacent 
street network.  Mr. Fuller said they realize that the site is limited in size but believe they have 

mitigated traffic and pedestrian movement by limiting seating capacity and by providing parking 

at the front entrance of the store.  Employees for both businesses would be required to park across 

the parking lot, which would limit the number of actual trips by pedestrians across the traveled 

lanes.   

 

Mr. Fuller said the existing entranceway would be modified to meet B71 State of Vermont 

standards.  He said he has communicated with Del Thompson at VTrans.  He said there is no real 

change in traffic circulation.  He said they propose to modify the existing building by trimming the 

corner at 45 degrees to make a 10-foot lane.  The applicants said they measured the drive-through  

 



DEVELOPMENT REVIEW BOARD 

MINUTES – AUGUST 7, 2007   Page 5 

 

lane for McDonald’s and found it to be 10 feet wide as well.  They propose to use blocks (4 x 4 x  

2) to stabilize the riverbank, which makes it wider.  They said a guardrail would be attached to the 

edge of the concrete wall.  Mr. Fuller said their structural engineers would design the block wall 

and might use integrated blocks.  Precautions would be made concerning flood hazard issues if 

necessary.  The proposed traffic pattern is counterclockwise.  They would have directional arrows.  

Employees for the shop and Pride Inc. would be directed to go to left and right.  They indicated 

that Pride Inc. does not have a lot of visitors; there is no set schedule.  They said the donuts are 

brought in a box truck about the size of a UPS truck.  They could pull up and back into the 

entrance.  Traffic is directed to the right as it enters.  They said the drive-through is 10 feet wide, 

which works in other areas.  The distance between the parking space and east side is almost 20 

feet (19.8).  Parking spaces are 19 feet by 9 feet.  They said snow removal would be similar to 

Montpelier in that it is pushed to a parking spot and trucked off site.  The applicants said to make 

it work without encroaching on railroad property they would have to drive on to the wall.  They 

said the current proposal extends out four feet onto State of Vermont property. 

 

b. Adequacy of circulation, parking, and loading facilities.   The applicants stated that there are specific 

times allowed for deliveries and loading (under contract).  They would pull in and back to the side of 

the building and drive out.  They could expand it some but are trying to minimize the amount of 

impervious area.  Parking spaces are shown on the application.  The applicants said that Pride Inc. 

does not have visitors on a regular basis but might have random staff meetings.  They anticipate the 

need for three employees in the morning hours and one to two the rest of the day.  That schedule 

would be the same as it is for the Simon’s location.    

 
They said trash removal must arrive at 5:00 AM when no one is in the parking areas.  The dumpster 

area would have a chain link fence with mesh around it for screening.  The applicants want to offer the 

convenience of drive-through services with the ability to serve the 300 to 350 customers a day similar 

to the Simon’s location.    

 

d. Bicycle and Pedestrian Access.   The applicants said they would add a sidewalk along the front of the 

building.  The existing building has a sidewalk, which would be expanded to five feet and would 

continue along the building.   

 
The Board suggested that the applicants look into a previously proposed bicycle/pedestrian connection 

for future considerations.   

   

e. Adequacy of landscaping.  Mr. Fuller said they are creating green space on the left side of the 

building and would put in low-lying shrubs and crabapple trees.  The large oak tree would be 

removed. They would maintain the existing lawn space as it is currently.  

 

f. Hours of Operation.  The applicants stated that the hours of operation for Dunkin Donuts would be 

5:30 AM to 9:00 PM, seven days a week.  Pride Inc. would continue with its existing times of 8:00 

AM to 5:00 PM. 

 

g. Setbacks.  The applicants said the existing building is currently 10 feet from the side yard property 

line and 10 feet from the rear yard property line, thus does not comply with the 25-foot setbacks for 

the district.  The dimensions were measured to the building.  The proposed building addition would 

continue along the rear of the existing building and remain 10 feet from the property line, thus not 

further encroaching on the setback.  The applicants said nothing is being proposed to extend 

backwards that would further encroach on the property line.  The rooflines would match.  They said 

water drains off the backside, which would require a gutter system.   

 



DEVELOPMENT REVIEW BOARD 

MINUTES – AUGUST 7, 2007   Page 6 

 
h. Adequacy of Exterior lighting.   The applicants said the site is currently illuminated by a streetlight in 

the center of the lot along U.S. Route 302.  They plan to add lights at the back of the building to 

illuminate the drive-through.  They said they might add perimeter lighting, recessed into the soffet.  

The applicants were not sure who paid for the streetlight (Green Mountain Power) or the Town of 

Berlin.  Since that light is not shielded, it does not meet current regulations.   

 

The Board explained that it must consider all exterior lighting for the site and requested a lighting plan 

that showed it.  The Board requested details on their proposal for exterior lighting, which included 

proposed locations shown on the plans and cut sheets.  The Board also asked for clarification as to 

who owns/maintains the streetlight.    

 

i. Stormwater and Drainage.   Mr. Fuller said the expansion of the existing building and the addition of 

the drive-through would increase the impervious area of the site by 3,650 square feet (60% over the 

existing site).  The total would be less than the once acre threshold established by the Water Qualify 

Division of the Department of Environmental Conservation, therefore they would not be required to 

apply for a general stormwater permit.  He indicated stormwater drainage would remain as currently 

designed.  The new parking entrance to the drive-through would sheet flow to a proposed catch basin, 

which would tie into the existing storm drain that crosses the site.  The remaining drive-through and 

the roof of the addition would flow to the rear of the site and discharge to the ditch line along the 

railroad tracks.  He said they are not providing discharge to the property to the west.  The applicants 

said the stormwater and drainage issues would be addressed with VTrans and the railroad as part of 

their negotiations.  They were asked to upgrade the existing culvert located under the railroad tracks to 

24 inches.  The applicants pointed out the proposed new areas to be paved.  

 

j. Utilization of renewable energy resources.  The applicants are not proposing any changes to the 

existing conditions.  They utilize and economizer unit, which conserves energy.  They are not 

proposing the use of solar energy.  The existing building has forced hot water.  The applicants 

indicated that they have previously worked with Efficiency Vermont. 

 

k. Municipal Services Impact Evaluation.   Mr. Fuller said he has received statements from the Berlin 

Police and Volunteer Fire Departments, both of which stated no adverse impacts based on their 

proposal.  He said he has communicated with Del Thompson with VTrans concerning upgrading the 

access to B71 State standards and permission to work within the State’s Right-of-Way but has not yet 

received a response.   He said he has also communicated with the Utilities Section and Railroad Unit 

of VTrans.  He referred to the August 2
nd

 E-mail from Lawrence Donna concerning the lease request.  

  

l. Flood Hazard Review. Mr. Fuller said that according to their surveyor, the property was not located 

within the flood plain. He said according to the map the elevation is at 561 feet. After further 

discussion it was evident that the same datum was not used, thus must be clarified.  The applicants 

agreed to verify elevations.   

 

The applicants need to verify whether the property is above or below the 100-year flood elevation. The 

Board noted that if the property is located within the floodplain, additional information would be 

required to address that criteria. The application was not warned as being located within the flood 

hazard area.     

 

 The Board reiterated the information that must be provided, which included but may not be limited to, the 

issue of ownership (VTrans and the Washington County Railroad), exterior lighting, signage, landscaping, 

flood hazard area, VTrans Utilities, and verification of the ownership or responsibility of the streetlight.   

 

 



DEVELOPMENT REVIEW BOARD 

MINUTES – AUGUST 7, 2007   Page 7 

 

The applicants asked the Board for a “weather” report on the feasibility of their request to know if the proposal 

was worth pursuing.   

 

The Board explained that it could not offer such opinions without the benefit of having a completed 

application and testimony from all interested parties.  The matter would be recessed to a future date pending 

receipt of the required documentation.  The information should arrive ten days in advance of the meeting date 

for distribution to members.  

 

Ms. Morse made a motion to recess Application 07-066 to the September 18, 2007 meeting/hearing.  Mr. 

Manley seconded the motion and the motion passed unanimously.    

 

C. 07-006 – P & M Realty/E.J. Prescott, Inc. submitted an application for Site Plan Review for fencing and site 

improvements.  The property is located at 2318 Airport Road in the Light Industrial (LN) District, Tax Map 

R2, 56B. Carlton W. Fuller, P.E. with Dufresne & Associates, PC and Dave Gardner with E.J. Prescott, Inc. 

were sworn in to give testimony on this matter, which was recessed from the February 20, 2007 meeting. 

 

The following documents were submitted and admitted as exhibits. Exhibit #14:  Site Plan, Yard Expansion 

and Municipal Sewer Connection Project, C1, prepared by Dufresne & Associates, PC, dated January 23, 

2007; Exhibit #15:  The Applicant’s Revised Narrative addressing Site Plan Review Criteria, dated July 17, 

2007; Exhibit #16: July 13, 2007 letter from Dufresne & Associates, PC to the Town of Berlin, describing the 

revisions to the proposed site plan; Exhibit #17:  Information re Geoblock ® 2 Porous Pavement System 

Material Specification, (Pesto Products Company, Appleton, WI), dated May 17, 2005; and Exhibit #18:  

Zoning Administrator’s Report for DRB Meeting August 7, 2007. 

 

Mr. Fuller said E.J. Prescott, Inc. is proposing to re-grade and expand their materials storage yard for the 

purposes of improving truck traffic flow within their existing yard and efficiency and safety.  He said they 

originally (February 20, 2007) planned to connect to the municipal sewer system, remove several tree islands, 

add new yard lights, signage, security fencing, re-grading and paving.  The applicant found that the costs 

associated with that proposal, which included upgrading the stormwater treatment and controls system would 

be cost prohibitive.  They have since scaled back the project but would improve safety and instill some 

additional efficiency in the yard, including some additional storage.  They now plan to remove the current tree 

islands, relocate employee parking, correct the turning radius at the north entrance, add new fencing in front of 

the site with landscaping, increase yard lighting, and a new sign.  The height of all structures is under the 

height restriction regarding the airport. 

 

Mr. Fuller said the tree islands would be removed and paved making additional yard space.  They propose to 

use pervious paving structures for employee parking. Mr. Fuller provided information pertaining to the 

Geoblock ® 2 Porous Pavement System Material Specification.  Grass will grow up through it. Mr. Gardner 

said they have expanded the business in erosion control and plan to try out this new product, which they would 

carry.  Mr. Fuller said the trees by the gate would be removed, making that area usable.  The curb cut would be 

expanded to make more room for trucks.  He said six parking spaces would be added as well as new yard 

lighting.  He said the new fence would connect to the tree line, which would secure the site.  He said small 

new impervious areas would be created, but would be below the threshold for state permitting.  He said this 

change would add storage area.  He said the large and small tree islands would be removed to make room for 

trucks coming in on the paved area and exiting the other way.   He said they would not be working within the 

State’s Right-of-Way.  He said the permit application for the expanded entrance is at VTrans.  He expects the 

permit to be issued soon.   He said they plan to replace the existing sign with a new one.  

 

The Board asked the applicants to address the applicable Site Plan Review criteria.   

 

 



DEVELOPMENT REVIEW BOARD 

MINUTES – AUGUST 7, 2007   Page 8 

 

a.   Safety of vehicular and pedestrian circulation on site and any adverse impacts on the adjacent street 
network.  Mr. Fuller said the only change to the current access conditions would be widening of the 

turning radius at the northern entrance to the site. The removal of the tree islands is designed to 

improve the flow of traffic within the yard and make the handling of the materials more efficient and 

improve the safety of the work area within the yard.  The gate would be moved up front.  They are 

requesting an eight-foot high chain link fence, which would be shielded with Blue Spruce.       

 

b. Adequacy of circulation, parking, and loading facilities.   Mr. Fuller said they are relocating parking 

spaces to the north end of the site. They are not increasing or decreasing the number of spaces.   The 

removal of the tree islands would create a more visible work area for vehicle traffic and safer 

environment for trucks to enter the yard.  The intent is to minimize the amount of backing up required 

by the trucks and to create a flow through type traffic pattern for deliveries and pickup of materials.  

They are not proposing any change in refuse storage, snow removal or emergency access.  

 

c. Bicycle and Pedestrian Access.   The applicants said there would be no change with regard to bicycle 

or pedestrian access. 

   

d. Adequacy of landscaping.  Mr. Guild referred to the site plan for the location of the proposed 

landscaping along the new fence line.  The intent is to plant evergreen trees at sufficient height and 

spacing to break up the impact of the fencing, not to hide it completely.  Ultimately one would not see 

the fencing.  The six-foot Blue Spruce trees would be on the outside of fence.  The applicants stated 

that there is good visibility from both directions. 

 

e. Hours of Operation.  The applicants stated that there would be no change in the hours of operation.  

The gates open at 6:30 AM and close at 6:00 PM. 

   

f. Setbacks.  The applicants indicated that all setbacks are met for the district.  No new buildings are 

being proposed.  The proposed new eight-foot high fence would be 30 feet from the edge of the road 

and ten feet from the edge of the Right-of-Way.  

 

g. Adequacy of Exterior lighting.   The applicants indicated that exterior lighting is reduced by one light 

from the other plan (February 2007).  They would be adding four new lights with fixtures and 

replacing one.  The cut sheets were previously provided.   

 
h. Stormwater and Drainage.   Mr. Fuller said they are not changing the stormwater pattern, just the 

amount of impervious area. Mr. Fuller explained that removal of the tree islands and improving the 

turning radius would require the addition of just under 5,000 square feet of new impervious area to the 

site, therefore a permit from the State is not required. The grading in the areas of the removed islands 

would be directed towards the grass lawn area that is now going to remain.  They would be replacing 

the 12-inch culvert with an 18-inch culvert, which would be part of the VTrans permit.  As mentioned 

above, the relocated employee parking would be completed using a porous paving system (Geoblock 

® 2 Porous Pavement System Material Specification), and as such that new area is not considered an 

addition of impervious area to the site.    

 

i. Utilization of renewable energy resources.  No change from the previous application.     

 

g. Municipal Services Impact Evaluation.   The applicants referred to the updated letters from the Berlin 

Police and Fire Departments both of which stated no adverse impact on their departments.  The 

applicants have submitted information to VTrans concerning expansion of their access and anticipate a 

response soon.  

 



DEVELOPMENT REVIEW BOARD 

MINUTES – AUGUST 7, 2007   Page 9 

 

k. Flood Hazard Review.  Not applicable.   

 

The Board noted that it was intrigued by the new proposal for pervious area.  The proposed sign replacement 

was considered at the last hearing.  The application needs to remain open until a letter from VTrans has been 

received addressing access and the culvert.  The letter from VTrans should address the issue that the expanded 

access would not meet the radii requirements of B71 State standards.   

   

Based on the documents presented and testimony heard, Ms. Morse made a motion, seconded by Mr. Manley, 

to recess the hearing in the matter of Application 07-006 pending receipt of the impact statement from VTrans.   

The question was called and the motion passed unanimously.    

 

3. Pubic Comment. 

 

4.  The Chairman called for approval of the Minutes of the July 17
th
 meeting.  Changes in wording were made in a 

few places to add clarity.  On page eight, the second paragraph under criterion Stormwater and Drainage, was 

amended to show the applicant’s erosion control plan involved 30,000 cubic yards.  On page 11, the last 

sentence in the first paragraph was amended to read:  In past situations pertaining to pre-existing signs, 

applicants might not have necessarily been required to meet the ordinance, but none have been allowed to 

increase the degree of non-compliance.          

  

  Ms. Morse made a motion, seconded by Mr. Hurley, to approve the Minutes of the July 17, 2007 meeting as 

corrected.  Motion passed unanimously.  

 

5.  Other Business  

 

6.   Status of Findings. 

 

The Board voted to go into deliberative session at 9:28 p.m. and out at 9:49 p.m. to discuss the status of 

Findings.  The Board’s decision with regard to (closed) adjourned applications will be reported in its Findings.   

 

7.  The next meeting of the Development Review Board is scheduled for Tuesday, August 14, 2007.  The 

following meeting is scheduled for August 21, 2007.    

 

8.  There being no further business, the meeting was adjourned at 9:51 P.M.  

 

 

Respectfully submitted, 

 

 

 

 

Carla Preston 

Recording Secretary 

Town of Berlin 


